

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





Journal of Power Sources 167 (2007) 235-242

www.elsevier.com/locate/jpowsour

Proton exchange membrane fuel cell from low temperature to high temperature: Material challenges

Review

Yuyan Shao^{a,b,*}, Geping Yin^b, Zhenbo Wang^{b,c}, Yunzhi Gao^b

^a Department of Macromolecular Science and Engineering, Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH 44106, USA

^b Department of Applied Chemistry, Harbin Institute of Technology, Harbin 150001, China

^c Department of Chemistry, Faculty of Natural Sciences, University of Puerto Rico, Rio Piedras Campus, San Juan, PR 00931, USA

Received 23 January 2007; received in revised form 24 February 2007; accepted 26 February 2007 Available online 6 March 2007

Abstract

Proton exchange membrane fuel cell (PEMFC) is considered as one promising clean and highly efficient power generation technology in 21st century. Current PEMFC operating at low temperatures (<80 °C) encounters several difficulties, such as CO tolerance, heat rejection, which can be, to a great extent, surmounted at higher temperatures (120–150 °C). However, the higher temperature conditions are much more challenging to implement, particularly with regards to the durability of the cell component materials. This paper overviews the drivers behind the interest in high-temperature PEMFC, and the challenges in developing novel materials to enable high-temperature PEMFC, including cell component durability (catalysts, polymer, bipolar plates, etc.), candidate polyelectrolytes for the electrode catalyst layer, and material compatibility in novel membrane electrode assembly (MEA), and provides an insight into the material research and development for PEMFC. © 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: High-temperature proton exchange membrane fuel cell; Electrocatalysts; Polymer electrolyte; Bipolar plates; Durability; Material compatibility

Contents

Introduction	. 236
Why high temperatures?	. 236
2.1. Electrode reaction kinetics	. 236
2.2. CO tolerance	. 237
2.3. Heat management	237
2.4. Water management	237
2.5. Non-platinum catalysts	. 237
Durability of materials	237
3.1. Catalysts and supports	237
3.2. Bipolar plates	238
3.3. Membrane durability	239
Polyelectrolyte in catalyst layers	239
Material compatibility	. 240
Conclusions and outlook	240
Acknowledgement	. 241
References	. 241
	Introduction Why high temperatures? 2.1. Electrode reaction kinetics 2.2. CO tolerance 2.3. Heat management 2.4. Water management 2.5. Non-platinum catalysts Durability of materials

^{*} Corresponding author at: Department of Macromolecular Science and Engineering, Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH 44106, USA. Tel.: +1 216 357 8972.

E-mail address: yuyan.shao@gmail.com (Y. Shao).

^{0378-7753/\$ –} see front matter © 2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jpowsour.2007.02.065

1. Introduction

Fuel cells are of great recent interest in our society today due to their high efficiency and potential for low emissions. Among all the various kinds of fuel cells [1,2], proton exchange membrane fuel cell (PEMFC, see Fig. 1 for general knowledge) is believed to be the most promising for transportation applications because of its fast startup and immediate response to changes in the demand for power and its tolerance to shock and vibration due to plastics materials and an immobilized electrolyte. They have also shown great promise for mobile applications such as portable electronics. In the energy market, the transportation sector is the main oil consumer, for example, in the U.S., transportation consumes about two-thirds of the nation's oil, and this figure is expected to remain essentially constant through 2020 [3]. Many efforts have been devoted into the research and development (R&D) of PEMFC for transportation. In the past decades, great advances have been achieved for PEMFC. The state-of-the-art advances in PEMFC have been described in detail by several recent reviews [4,5], on special topics such as electrodes [6] and catalysts [7–14], membrane [15–20], etc.

Current PEMFCs typically run at ≤ 80 °C because of the working temperature limitation of the polyelectrolyte membrane (usually DuPont's Nafion). The primary reason is that the proton conductivity of Nafion membrane drops off very quickly



Fig. 1. displays the structure of a PEMFC and how it works. Proton exchange membrane (PEM), sometimes also called polyelectrolyte membrane works as the separator to prevent the reactants (H₂ and O₂) from mixing, it also transports protons from the anode to the cathode. Catalyst layer (CL) consists of carbon supported platinum or platinum alloy nanocatalysts (Pt/C) and the binder (usually Nafion), the later also works as electrolyte to extend the formation of the electrochemical triple-phase boundary (TPB). Diffusion layer (DL), also called gas diffusion layer, is mainly PTFE-hydrophobized carbon paper or carbon cloth, through which the reactant transport to CL and the product $\left(H_2O\right)$ flows out (at the cathode side). Bipolar plate (BPP) consists of gas-impermeable carbon plate or metal plate coated with protective layer. It works as the current collector. Between the BPP and DL is the so called flow field, which consists of gas channels grooved on the surface of BPP. When PEMFC is running, hydrogen is electrochemically oxidized at the anode, the resultant H⁺ transports across the PEM; oxygen is electrochemically reduced at the cathode, and combined with protons from the anode to form H₂O. Electrons transport through the external circuit, so a close circuit is formed and the electric power is generated.

with relative humidity (RH) decreasing and cannot yield sufficiently high membrane conductivity (>0.1 S cm⁻¹) without an external humidification subsystem in a fuel cell system at high temperature (>80 °C) [21,22]. The membrane will also loss its mechanical and dimensional stability at high temperature due to its low glass transition temperature (T_g) (80–120 °C) [15]. Working at low temperatures, i.e., \leq 80 °C, brings about several challenges for PEMFC [16,23], especially for application in transportation, such as fuel impurity (CO, H₂S, etc.) tolerance (<20 ppm) and heat rejection (see below). So efforts have strived to increase the working temperature of PEMFC. The desirable temperature is generally believed to be 120–150 °C. The prohibitive cost of present PEMFC system is another challenge.

Operation at an increased temperature (120–150 °C) causes greater challenges for PEMFC [24]. Novel materials that can give high performance and high durability under such conditions are prerequisite for high-temperature PEMFC, among which alternative electrolyte membranes that can work at high temperatures (120-150 °C) and low relative humidities (RH = 25-50%) are one of the most important. Many current research efforts are devoted to the development of alternative electrolyte membranes [24], including non-fluorinated hydrocarbon polymer [17], inorganic-polymer composite [18,20,25], anhydrous proton conducting polymers [26] (e.g., PBI/H₃PO₄ [27-30], Nafion/H₃PO₄ [31]). For example, since year 2000, the U.S. Department of Energy has established "The High Temperature Membrane Working Group" to advance the R&D of high temperature membranes for PEMFC. Great advances have been obtained in this field [15,16,32-34]. Comparatively, little effort has been devoted to material durability and compatibility issues of high-temperature PEMFCs.

In this article, the reasons for high-temperature PEMFC are at first summarized and analyzed. The material challenges (durability, compatibility, etc.) for high-temperature PEMFC are described. We do not want to give a thorough review on literature, but an insight into the R&D of high-temperature PEMFC, based on selected research reports from peer-reviewed journal publications.

2. Why high temperatures?

The theoretical analysis and experimental investigations have shown that working at high temperatures $(120-150 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ can provide the following advantages for PEMFC [16,23,35]:

2.1. Electrode reaction kinetics

The overall electrochemical kinetics of a PEMFC is determined by the slow oxygen reduction reaction (ORR) [24]. Due to the sluggish ORR kinetics [8,36], the over-potential at the cathode (ORR electrode) accounts for the major voltage loss of PEMFC and remains a major focus of PEMFC research [8,24,37]. The reaction kinetics of hydrogen oxidation and ORR will be both enhanced at high temperature, especially for ORR [24,38]. Of course, there is also a counter balance from the simultaneous loss of thermodynamic driving force (reversible cell voltage) at improved temperatures [24,37].

2.2. CO tolerance

Trace CO in hydrogen feed gas can significantly depress the performance of PEMFC due to the strong adsorption of CO on Pt electrocatalysts [39–41]. The adsorption of CO on Pt will be weakened at high temperatures, thus CO tolerance will be enhanced [23], for example, the CO tolerance is 10-20 ppm at $80 \,^{\circ}$ C, 1000 ppm at $130 \,^{\circ}$ C, and up to 30,000 ppm at $200 \,^{\circ}$ C [42], which will also offer cost advantage for hydrogen production and perhaps no requirement for the CO cleanup in fuel processing system.

2.3. Heat management

Even though PEMFC is a very efficient system, there is still 40–50% of the energy produced as heat [43]. The produced heat in a working PEMFC stack must be removed quickly from fuel cells, otherwise the fuel cell system will overheat. It is well known that the rate of heat transport is proportional to the temperature difference between PEMFC and the environment. For PEMFC working at low temperatures ($\leq 80 \,^{\circ}$ C), the heat rejection rate of the state-of-the-art automotive radiators is insufficient to reject continuous full power waste heat [21]. It requires a novel complex cooling system with a large dimension and weight, for example, the cooling system in the state-of-theart fuel cell cars accounts for about 50 wt.% of the total fuel cell system. Increase of PEMFC working temperature to >120 °C will make the cooling system in present internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles possible in fuel cell vehicles and thus will greatly increase the weight- and mass-specific energy densities and increase the total energy efficiency [16,21]. Under high temperatures, the heat can be recovered as, e.g., steam, which in turn can be used for direct heating, steam reforming or for pressurized operation. If the operational temperature is elevated to, for example, 200 °C, water steam of up to 15 atm can be produced from a fuel cell stack [16]. In this way the overall system efficiency will be significantly increased.

2.4. Water management

PEMFC working at temperatures ≤ 80 °C under atmospheric pressure often involves a dual-phase water system, i.e., liquid water/water vapor; when the humidification is too high, water condenses and the electrodes are flooded, which makes water management difficult [16,44,45]. However, if a PEMFC is running at atmospheric pressure and above 100 °C, only single water phase, i.e., water vapor, exists in PEMFC [16,24]. So the transport of water in membrane, catalyst layers and diffusion layers will be easier to balance. Transport of reactants (H₂ and O₂) in the electrode layers is also expected to be enhanced, and no flooding problem in cathode [46]. Additionally, the reduction in the amount of liquid water will increase the exposed surface area of the electrocatalysts and improve the ability of the reactants to diffuse into the reaction layer [47].

2.5. Non-platinum catalysts

With the increase of working temperature, the electrode reaction kinetics will be greatly enhanced, thus make it possible to use non-platinum catalysts, reducing the total cost of PEMFC [12,48].

The above mentioned advantages of high-temperature PEMFC are extraordinarily attractive, which has spurred interest in this area.

3. Durability of materials

PEMFC works under harsh conditions [49,50]: low pH, high water content, high electrode potential (cathode, 0.6-1.2 V versus reversible hydrogen electrode, RHE), high oxygen concentration and ORR intermediate H₂O₂. It is well established that the durability problem of materials will become more severe with the increase of working temperature [51,52]. The following are the main materials in PEMFC that are liable to degradation.

3.1. Catalysts and supports

Carbon supported Pt and its alloys are the catalysts widely used in present PEMFCs. The durability of the catalysts and their supports has been investigated in real or simulated lowtemperature PEMFC condition [49,53-62]. It is found that the electrochemically active surface area of the electrodes will be decreased during PEMFC running [36,59,63-65], which contributes to the main performance degradation of PEMFC [51,64]. Pt or Pt alloy nanoparticles that are deposited on carbon black can agglomerate through diffusion on carbon surface to form larger particles during PEMFC operation or under the accelerated aging test [36,49]. Pt will also dissolve into the acidic operating environment, followed by hydrogen reduction and then staying in Nafion membrane in PEMFC or by precipitating onto larger Pt particles [54,59]. The dissolution phenomenon of non-platinum metals in Pt alloys is still more severe because of their poor resistance to corrosion [53].

Corrosion of the carbon support also occurs during PEMFC operation, which also leads to performance loss [49,55]. When carbon corrodes, some Pt and/or its alloy particles will peel from the electrode. Carbon corrosion will increase the electrode resistance by decreasing electric contact with the current collector [36]. Carbon corrosion will also accelerate the sintering of Pt by weakening the interaction between Pt and the support [49].

All these phenomena decrease catalytically active surface areas of the electrode, thus decrease the cell performance. Even worse, all of the above mentioned phenomena are aggravated with the increasing of working temperature [51]. The sintering of Pt may be reduced at low relative humidity but carbon corrosion be accelerated [66], the later may be due to the competition between the oxidation of carbon and water at high electrode potentials [51], especially at the reverse condition of a PEMFC [67]. Most of the researches of catalyst durability are carried out at low temperatures (≤ 80 °C) and liquid electrolyte solutions or high humidity [63,64]. Some investigations are carried out at low humidity but low temperatures [68,69]. Few investigations at high temperatures $(120-150 \,^{\circ}\text{C})$ and low humidities (RH = 25–50%) reports are available. According to the stateof-the-art research reports, no catalysts have yet to satisfy the low-temperature PEMFC requirements for catalysts in terms of catalytic activity and durability [21,70], let alone that for the high-temperature PEMFC.

So many efforts should be devoted to answer at least the following questions: can Pt and/or Pt alloys supported on carbon materials (carbon black, carbon nanotubes, carbon nanofibers, etc.) with a desirable loading and a desirable catalytic activity survive from the high-temperature PEMFC conditions for a long lifetime, e.g., >5000 h for transportation application [1]? If the answer is no, what's the degradation behavior of carbon supported Pt and/or Pt alloy catalysts under high temperature and low humidity? What strategies can be employed to improve the durability? What materials can satisfy the requirements of catalysts for high-temperature PEMFC? A revolutionary breakthrough in science and technology on novel catalytic materials is needed, but not only evolutionary advances have thus far been reported [71].

Wang [72] and Shao [49] have reported that Pt nanocatalysts supported on multiwall carbon nanotubes showed a higher durability and a higher catalytic activity than that supported on other support materials (Vulcan XC-72 carbon black). This is due to the higher durability of the support and the specific interaction between Pt nanoparticles and the novel support [49]. Alloying Pt with other specific metals cannot only improve the catalytic activity [73], but also it can enhance the durability [21,53,60,71,74], which is due to the so called "anchor effects" [53,74]. It is recently reported that platinum (Pt) oxygen reduction fuel cell electrocatalysts can be stabilized by modifying Pt nanoparticles with gold (Au) clusters, which is attributed to the raised oxidation potential of Pt by Au [75]. Graphitization of carbon support produces a material which is highly resistant to oxidation and carbon corrosion, perhaps resulting in highly durable catalysts [76]. However, metal deposition on such graphitized supports is more difficult [36]. Some researchers observed an enhanced electrocatalytic activity and durability on nitrogen-doped [77-79] or boron-doped [80] carbon supported electrocatalysts for potential application in PEMFC. It is believed that the nitrogen-doping effect is due to the electron donator nature of nitrogen, which improves the ability of graphite to donate electrons to O₂ and makes the reaction of oxygen to water more easily. The electron donator nature of nitrogen enhances the delocalized $\boldsymbol{\pi}$ bonding of graphite layers in carbon support (CNT/CNF) [79], which makes strong the interaction between the support CNT/CNF and the catalyst metals. The enhanced CNT/CNF-metal interaction results in higher durability of catalysts. The investigation on carbides supported Pt [21,81,82] or non-Pt catalysts [83–86] is also carried out, but few reports are available on their durability.

These are only primary investigations and only incremental advance for durable and high-activity catalysts for PEMFC. Investigations on non-platinum catalysts have made advances recently [12,48,87], but their durability under high temperature needs further study.

3.2. Bipolar plates

The development of bipolar plates for PEMFC in recent years has been reviewed by several researchers [88-91]. In most designs, the bipolar plates should have the following functions [88,90]: (1) to distribute the fuel and oxidant within the cell which requires it being impermeable to reactant gas (H₂ and O_2 ; (2) to facilitate water management within the cell; (3) to separate individual cells in the stack; (4) to carry current away from the cell and to facilitate heat management, which require it being a good conductor for the heat and the electron transport. Bipolar plates are under a corrosive environment: low pH, with one side exposed to the reductive gas (H₂), which works as the anode in one cell, and the other side to the oxidative gases (O_2) , which works as the cathode in another cell. Therefore, bipolar plates should also be of great resistance to chemical and electrochemical corrosion. This limits the materials that can be used for manufacturing bipolar plates [88], which include nonporous graphite carbon, composites, metals. Traditionally, nonporous graphite carbon is the most commonly used bipolar plate material because of its high chemical and electrochemical stability to survive the fuel cell environment and its high conductivity. However, the cost of both nonporous graphite carbon raw materials and the manufacturing to introduce flow field grooves is prohibitive for application in PEMFC [90]. Carbon based composite (carbon-carbon and carbon-polymer composites) bipolar plates are developed as an alternative to graphite carbon. But for carbon-carbon composites, the poor mechanical strength is inherent [90]; the carbon-polymer composite bipolar plates encounter the problem of high resistivity [88]. Metal (usually coated a protective layer) plates are used as another alternative by some developers [92–94]. Due to the consideration of the cost, specific weight, mechanical properties, gas impermeability, electrical and thermal conductivities, and so on, metal plates are preferred [1,41,89,95], especially for transport vehicle PEMFC application. Metals investigated include aluminum, stainless steel, titanium and nickel. There is also the corrosion problem for metal bipolar plates under PEMFC conditions [95]. Coating a protective layer on the surface of metal bipolar plates can only alleviate, but not completely eliminate, the corrosion problem [41]. Coated layer sometimes increase the interfacial resistivity of the bipolar plates [24]. Furthermore, metal ions dissolved from metal bipolar plates (both the from the bulk and the coated protective layer) can contaminate the polymer electrolyte membrane [90], which is harmful for PEM's life and conductivity property [95,96]. The present investigations on bipolar plates are focused on novel materials and the corrosion behavior under low-temperature PEMFC conditions. So what's the corrosion behavior of metal bipolar plate under the high temperature and low humidity conditions, i.e., the targeted high-temperature PEMFC working conditions? However, to our best knowledge, no reports are available on this topic. In addition to novel material development, many efforts should be devoted to investigate the behavior of the materials and the resultant bipolar plates under high temperatures and low humidity conditions.

3.3. Membrane durability

Membrane durability has been widely investigated for both Nafion and novel alternative membranes. It is generally believed that H_2O_2 and its intermediates generated during oxygen reduction and the chemical combination of H_2 and O_2 , reduce the lifetime of PEMs by attacking both end-groups and side chains of membrane polyelectrolyte, but there are still controversies in their degradation mechanism and model [52,97]. Several reviews on the state-of-the-art of PEMs [15,16,19,20,32–34,98] and their future development [99] have been published recently, we will not iterate it. We only want to point out that the operation of PEMFC at higher temperature and lower relative humidity results in even faster degradation rate for membrane [19,51]. But unfortunately again, few investigations have been carried out at high temperatures and low relative humidities.

There are also durability problems for other part materials of PEMFC [24], such as the materials used for sealing [100] and gas diffusion layers. All the durability problems will change with working conditions, especially will become more severe at high temperatures [24]. Furthermore, the investigation on the durability of materials is time-consuming. To test the durability of rials in a real normally working PEMFC is inefficient, if not impossible, because the life requirement for PEMFC, thus its materials, is, for example, >5000 h for transportation and >40,000 h for stationary application [1]. Therefore, the so called accelerated degradation test (ADT) is developed [53,54,57,62]. Most of the ADT methods are ex situ ones, so how and to what extent the ex situ methods can simulate the real working condition of PEMFC is still in question, for example, as the widely used method for screening novel alternative polymer membrane materials, Fenton's reagent test sometimes cannot work well (see the following section) [17]. Time-effective and reliable methods for material durability investigation are indispensable, especially with the testing condition of high temperatures (120-150 °C) and low relative humidities (20-50%). The open-circuit voltage test may be the only simple screening method, so far, to predict membrane lifetime [21,68], which can be easily extended to various humidities and high temperature. The open-circuit voltage testing condition is also in close similarity with real fuel cell working environment.

4. Polyelectrolyte in catalyst layers

The amount of polyelectrolyte used in catalyst layers is not as large as that in membranes, however, it is also important [85], because it is closely related to the electrode performance, Pt utilization, and MEA durability [101]. In current PEMFCs, Nafion ionomers are employed in the catalyst layer as a binder and the proton conducting electrolyte to extend the electrochemical triple-phase boundary (TPB) formation [6]. The later is important for obtaining a desirable Pt utilization and thus a high performance of MEA. In the catalyst layer, the transport of reactants, protons and electrons, i.e., the formation of TPB, can be illustrated in Fig. 2 [22].



Fig. 2. Schematic of the reactant, proton and electron transport in catalyst layer of PEMFC electrode, i.e., the formation of the electrochemical triple-phase boundary.

It can be seen that the reactant must transport through the proton conducting electrolyte before it arrives at the reaction sites and then takes part in the electrode reactions. So the electrolyte in the catalyst layer must be reactant-permeable, otherwise it might cause reactant mass transport limitations [102]. This is completely different from the polyelectrolyte used in membranes which requires no or much less reactant permeability [15,16]. The other problem is that, for most alternative proton conducting polyelectrolytes which are mainly aromatic hydrocarbon and more hydrophilic than Nafion [101], liquid water is more easily to form in the electrode which might block the transport of reactants (fuel and oxidant).

In the cathode catalyst layer, oxygen is electrochemically reduced to H₂O, and more or less H₂O₂ is usually formed in the oxygen reduction reaction process, which has been confirmed on carbon supported Pt catalysts (Pt/C) and the formation of H_2O_2 is enhanced with a decrease in agglomeration of Pt/C [103]. It is well known that H₂O₂ is harmful to polyelectrolyte durability [19], even though there is still dispute on the formation sites of H₂O₂ and the exact mechanism for H₂O₂ to attack the polyelectrolyte [52]. Unlike polyelectrolyte in the membrane which is a little far from the reaction sites of ORR, polyelectrolyte in the catalyst layer are just touched with the sites where ORR takes place, at which the concentration of H_2O_2 is expected to be much higher than that in membrane. The polyelectrolyte in the catalyst layer is more likely to be negatively affected by H₂O₂ and has to be more chemically stable than membrane. The Fenton's reagent test, i.e., putting the polymer in hot 3% H₂O₂/1 ppm Fe(II) solution to test its chemical stability [17], is widely used for the stability evaluation and the screening of novel alternative polymer membrane candidates [15]. This screening method does not work well sometimes for membrane materials, for example, polybenzimidazoles cannot stand Fenton's reagent test at all, but the membrane has been demonstrated with a fuel cell lifetime over 5000 h at 150 °C by continuous operation [16]. It has also been shown that, whereas sulfonated poly(ether ether ketone) (SPEEK) membranes can function for hundreds to thousands of hours in a fuel cell, the similar membranes may become brittle with partial loss of their IEC after 4 to 8 h in Fenton reaction solutions at 68 °C [17]. Due to the relative high concentration of H_2O_2 in the catalyst layer, it is expected that Fenton's reagent test can work well in evaluating the chemical stability of polyelectrolyte for application in catalyst layer.

It can be deduced that proton transport is also different from that in membrane. In PEMFC, proton transports through the direction vertical to the membrane surface plane [15]. The anisotropic proton transport property, in which the through-theplane proton conductivity of the membrane is higher, is desirable for polymer membrane [104,105]. But this is not the case in catalyst layer, in which the proton transport is a little more unoriented.

The requirements for mechanical and dimensional stability of polymer membrane are very high [16,106]. But for polyelectrolyte in catalyst layer, it is perhaps not the case. In one word, the requirements of polyelectrolyte for the catalyst layer and for the membrane are quite different. So the conclusion can be drawn that different polyelectrolytes should be or be preferred to be employed in the catalyst layer and the membrane for PEMFC, respectively [101]. So far, the same polyelectrolyte, i.e., Nafion, is employed in the catalyst layer and membrane in most PEMFCs.

It is found that the catalytic activity of carbon supported noble metal catalysts for oxygen reduction is higher in Nafion electrolyte than, for example, in phosphoric acid, due to the nonadsorbing nature of the sulfonic acid anions on the Pt catalyst surface [107]. Oxygen reduction reaction kinetics in Nafion system is also higher than other sulfonic acid group containing polymers [108]. Permeability of hydrogen [109] and oxygen [110] are also found to be higher than novel alternative polyelectrolytes, for example, the oxygen permeability of Nafion is 1.5–3 times larger than that for sulfonated polyether sulfone membranes [111] and five times larger than that for SPEEK [112]. This is attributed to the lower oxygen solubility in the non-fluorinated backbone [112]. The backbone fluorination of Nafion is also expected to mitigate hydroperoxide formation [15]. Nafion also shows a desirable high chemical stability in a Fenton's reagent test and real PEMFC working conditions. The amount of polyelectrolyte used in catalyst layer is relatively small, as compared with that for membrane. The high cost of Nafion will not exert much influence on total cost of PEMFC. So Nafion is considered to be one promising candidate polyelectrolyte for catalyst layer of next generation PEMFC. But its performance as a membrane is not good enough [15]. Alternative polymer membranes are needed, which are being under intensitive investigation by many research groups [15,16,85,101,113].

The investigations on the catalyst layer with novel alternative ionomers and its application in MEA have recently been reported [102,112,114]. It has been shown that novel alternative ionomers in catalyst layer can cause several challenges in MEA design [102,112], such as cathode flooding, mass transport limitations in catalyst layer. The application of various polyelectrolytes in catalyst layer and membrane brings about the problem of material compatibility [115]. This will be discussed in the following section.

5. Material compatibility

If different polymers are employed in the catalyst layer and the membrane, respectively, there is the problem of the compatibility of the polymer membrane and the catalyst layer [115]. It has been found [101,114,116–118] that the interfacial resistance is larger for a MEA consisting of Nafion-based catalyst layers and non-Nafion membrane than all-Nafion one, and that the degradation rate for the former is much larger than the later. If the polymers in the catalyst layer and the membrane are the same one, regardless of it being, i.e., Nafion or non-Nafion, it seems that the interfacial resistance can be lowered to some extent [102,108]. The exact origin of the increased interfacial resistance between Nafion-based catalyst layers and non-Nafion membranes remains unknown, but it is reasonable to assume that Nafion, being a highly fluorinated tetrafluoroethylenebased material would tend to not bond intimately with a non-fluorinated copolymer. So the larger interfacial resistance is perhaps due to the different chemistry of the two polymers [115]. The larger degradation rate of non-Nafion-membrane MEA is due to the different rates of swelling/contraction of different polymers, which results in the delamination of MEA in the cycle of hydration-dehydration [112].

It has been reported [101,114] that modifying polyaromatic electrolyte membranes with fluorine and other functional groups can decrease the interfacial resistance in the MEA consisting of the Nafion-based catalyst layer and non-Nafion membrane. It is reasonable to assume that a fluorinated copolymer could be more compatible with highly fluorinated Nafion than a non-fluorinated copolymer [115].

It is reasonable to postulate that the chemical similarity of the polymers in the catalyst layer and in the membrane is important for a good binding of the two parts (the catalyst layer and the membrane) and thus lower interfacial resistance in the resultant MEA [115]. The following questions should be first stated. What influences the chemical similarity of two kinds of polyelectrolyte, the backbone and/or the functional group (side chains)? Do other properties of polyelectrolyte, such as hydrophobicity/hydrophilicity, influence the binding of the catalyst layer and the membrane? It should also be emphasized that if an alternative membrane material does emerge, considerable R&D will still be necessary to optimize and manufacture the new membrane electrode assembly (MEA). This development has taken many years for Nafiontype MEAs, although some of the expertise gained may be able to be transferred to the new system[1]. So many efforts are needed on the development of novel alternative materials for PEMs.

6. Conclusions and outlook

Operation of PEMFC at high temperatures (120–150 °C) brings about considerable advantages. However, many challenges for materials come with the advantages. The challenges in terms of material durability (catalysts, bipolar plates, and membrane), novel polyelectrolyte in the catalyst layer, and the material compatibility between membrane and electrodes, are

reviewed. Many efforts are needed in the R&D of novel materials for high-temperature PEMFC.

First, we should answer the question of the possibility of "high temperature" and "low humidity" and the pathway to get to the end. Some people have suggested to place emphasis on the strategy of "low relative humidity" at operating temperatures of 60–80 °C as the first step instead of "high-temperature" one [21].

Revolutionary breakthrough should be achieved in novel material development and the fundamental investigation on the fuel cell related properties. The properties of novel materials potentially used in high-temperature PEMFC should be investigated in-depth, in terms of their performance, durability, compatibility, and so on. A reliable and time-effective method should be developed for novel material screening. The emphasis should be placed on simulating real fuel cell working conditions and the relationship between the working conditions and the relationship between the working conditions and the intrinsic oxygen reduction reaction kinetics in a PEMFC are independent of RH above 50–60%, but significant losses in ORR kinetics were observed at lower RH values, which is attributed to the reduced H⁺ activity at low RH [119].

For examples, first principle calculation has proven to be a useful tool to novel catalyst design [120] and computational studies have been utilized to facilitate and develop understanding of PEMs [121–123]. It has shown a promising result in the effort to use computational tools to understand polymer morphology and properties [101], such as the state of adsorbed water and its transport in PEMs [121], and to the basis for understanding the mechanisms of proton conduction in PEMs [35].

Acknowledgement

The authors thank Dr. Michael P. Brady (Oak Ridge National Laboratory) for helpful discussion about the manuscript.

References

- [1] B.C.H. Steele, A. Heinzel, Nature 414 (2001) 345.
- [2] L. Carrette, K.A. Friedrich, U. Stimming, Chem. Phys. Chem. 1 (2000) 162.
- [3] Basic Research Needs for the Hydrogen Economy. Argonne National Laboratory, 2003, this report is available on the web at http://www.sc.doe.gov/bes/hydrogen.pdf.
- [4] V. Mehta, J.S. Cooper, J. Power Sources 114 (2003) 32.
- [5] F. de Bruijn, Green Chem. 7 (2005) 132.
- [6] S. Litster, G. McLean, J. Power Sources 130 (2004) 61.
- [7] J.S. Lee, N.D. Quan, J.M. Hwang, S.D. Lee, H. Kim, H. Lee, H.S. Kim, J. Ind. Eng. Chem. 12 (2006) 175.
- [8] H.A. Gasteiger, S.S. Kocha, B. Sompalli, F.T. Wagner, Appl. Catal. B-Environ. 56 (2005) 9.
- [9] E.S. Smotkin, R.R. Diaz-Morales, Ann. Rev. Mater. Res. 33 (2003) 557.
- [10] E. Antolini, J. Mater. Sci. 38 (2003) 2995.
- [11] E. Antolini, Mater. Chem. Phys. 78 (2003) 563.
- [12] L. Zhang, J.J. Zhang, D.P. Wilkinson, H.J. Wang, J. Power Sources 156 (2006) 171.
- [13] Z. Shi, J.J. Zhang, Z.S. Liu, H.J. Wang, D.P. Wilkinson, Electrochim. Acta 51 (2006) 1905.
- [14] F. Bensebaa, A.A. Farah, D.S. Wang, C. Bock, X.M. Du, J. Kung, Y. Le Page, J. Phys. Chem. B 109 (2005) 15339.

- [15] M.A. Hickner, H. Ghassemi, Y.S. Kim, B.R. Einsla, J.E. McGrath, Chem. Rev. 104 (2004) 4587.
- [16] Q.F. Li, R.H. He, J.O. Jensen, N.J. Bjerrum, Chem. Mater. 15 (2003) 4896.
- [17] J. Roziere, D.J. Jones, Ann. Rev. Mater. Res. 33 (2003) 503.
- [18] G. Alberti, M. Casciola, Ann. Rev. Mater. Res. 33 (2003) 129.
- [19] S.J. Hamrock, M.A. Yandrasits, Polym. Rev. 46 (2006) 219.
- [20] A.M. Herring, Polym. Rev. 46 (2006) 245.
- [21] M.F. Mathias, R. Makharia, H.A. Gasteiger, J.J. Conley, T.J. Fuller, C.J. Gittleman, S.S. Kocha, D.P. Miller, C.K. Mittelsteadt, T. Xie, S.G. Yan, P.T. Yu, Interface 14 (2005) 24.
- [22] H.A. Gasteiger, M.F. Mathias, in: M. Murthy, T.F. Fuller, J.W. Van Zee (Eds.), Proceedings of the Third International Symposium on Proton Conducting Membrane Fuel Cells, 202nd Meeting of ECS, Salt Lake City, 2002, p. 1.
- [23] C. Yang, P. Costamagna, S. Srinivasan, J. Benziger, A.B. Bocarsly, J. Power Sources 103 (2001) 1.
- [24] J.L. Zhang, Z. Xie, J.J. Zhang, Y.H. Tanga, C.J. Song, T. Navessin, Z.Q. Shi, D.T. Song, H.J. Wang, D.P. Wilkinson, Z.S. Liu, S. Holdcroft, J. Power Sources 160 (2006) 872.
- [25] O. Savadogo, J. Power Sources 127 (2004) 135.
- [26] M.E. Schuster, W.H. Meyer, Ann. Rev. Mater. Res. 33 (2003) 233.
- [27] Y.L. Ma, J.S. Wainright, M.H. Litt, R.F. Savinell, J. Electrochem. Soc. 151 (2004) A8.
- [28] A. Schechter, R.F. Savinell, Solid State Ionics 147 (2002) 181.
- [29] J.J. Fontanella, M.C. Wintersgill, J.S. Wainright, R.F. Savinell, M. Litt, Electrochim. Acta 43 (1998) 1289.
- [30] S.R. Samms, S. Wasmus, R.F. Savinell, J. Electrochem. Soc. 143 (1996) 1225.
- [31] S. Wasmus, A. Valeriu, G.D. Mateescu, D.A. Tryk, R.F. Savinell, Solid State Ionics 80 (1995) 87.
- [32] K. Miyatake, M. Watanabe, Electrochemistry 73 (2005) 12.
- [33] P. Jannasch, Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 8 (2003) 96.
- [34] K.D. Kreuer, J. Membr. Sci. 185 (2001) 29.
- [35] S.J. Paddison, Ann. Rev. Mater. Res. 33 (2003) 289.
- [36] C. He, S. Desai, G. Brown, S. Bollepalli, Interface 14 (2005) 41.
- [37] K.C. Neyerlin, W.B. Gu, J. Jorne, H.A. Gasteiger, J. Electrochem. Soc. 153 (2006) A1955.
- [38] A. Parthasarathy, S. Srinivasan, A.J. Appleby, C.R. Martin, J. Electrochem. Soc. 139 (1992) 2530.
- [39] A.K. Santra, D.W. Goodman, Electrochim. Acta 47 (2002) 3595.
- [40] P. Waszczuk, G.Q. Lu, A. Wieckowski, C. Lu, C. Rice, R.I. Masel, Electrochim. Acta 47 (2002) 3637.
- [41] N.P. Brandon, S. Skinner, B.C.H. Steele, Ann. Rev. Mater. Res. 33 (2003) 183.
- [42] Q.F. Li, R.H. He, J.A. Gao, J.O. Jensen, N.J. Bjerrum, J. Electrochem. Soc. 150 (2003) A1599.
- [43] J.S. Yi, T.V. Nguyen, J. Electrochem. Soc. 145 (1998) 1149.
- [44] A.Z. Weber, J. Newman, J. Electrochem. Soc. 153 (2006) A2205.
- [45] P. Berg, K. Promislow, J. St Pierre, J. Stumper, B. Wetton, J. Electrochem. Soc. 151 (2004) A341.
- [46] M. Eikerling, A.A. Kornyshev, A.R. Kucernak, Phys. Today 59 (2006) 38.
- [47] W.H.J. Hogarth, J.C.D. da Costa, G.Q. Lu, J. Power Sources 142 (2005) 223.
- [48] B. Wang, J. Power Sources 152 (2005) 1.
- [49] Y.H. Liu, B.L. Yi, Z.G. Shao, D.M. Xing, H.M. Zhang, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 9 (2006) A356.
- [50] J. Healy, C. Hayden, T. Xie, K. Olson, R. Waldo, A. Brundage, H. Gasteiger, J. Abbott, Fuel Cells 5 (2005) 302.
- [51] S.D. Knights, K.M. Colbow, J. St-Pierre, D.P. Wilkinson, J. Power Sources 127 (2004) 127.
- [52] A. Collier, H.J. Wang, X.Z. Yuan, J.J. Zhang, D.P. Wilkinson, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 31 (2006) 1838.
- [53] H.R. Colon-Mercado, H. Kim, B.N. Popov, Electrochem. Commun. 6 (2004) 795.
- [54] P.J. Ferreira, G.J. la O', Y. Shao-Horn, D. Morgan, R. Makharia, S. Kocha, H.A. Gasteiger, J. Electrochem. Soc. 152 (2005) A2256.

- [55] L.M. Roen, C.H. Paik, T.D. Jarvic, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 7 (2004) A19–A22.
- [56] L. Li, Y.C. Xing, J. Electrochem. Soc. 153 (2006) A1823.
- [57] D.A. Stevens, M.T. Hicks, G.M. Haugen, J.R. Dahn, J. Electrochem. Soc. 152 (2005) A2309.
- [58] R.M. Darling, J.P. Meyers, J. Electrochem. Soc. 150 (2003) A1523.
- [59] K. Yasuda, A. Taniguchi, T. Akita, T. Ioroi, Z. Siroma, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 8 (2006) 746.
- [60] H.R. Colon-Mercado, B.N. Popov, J. Power Sources 155 (2006) 253.
- [61] D.A. Stevens, J.R. Dahn, Carbon 43 (2005) 179.
- [62] M. Cai, M.S. Ruthkosky, B. Merzougui, S. Swathirajan, M.P. Balogh, S.H. Oh, J. Power Sources 160 (2006) 977.
- [63] J. Xie, D.L. Wood, D.M. Wayne, T.A. Zawodzinski, P. Atanassov, R.L. Borup, J. Electrochem. Soc. 152 (2005) A104.
- [64] J. Xie, D.L. Wood, K.L. More, P. Atanassov, R.L. Borup, J. Electrochem. Soc. 152 (2005) A1011.
- [65] K. Teranishi, K. Kawata, S. Tsushima, S. Hirai, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 9 (2006) A475.
- [66] F. Garzon, J. Davey, R. Borup, 208th ECS Meeting, 2005, Abstract #1179.
- [67] C.A. Reiser, L. Bregoli, T.W. Patterson, J.S. Yi, J.D.L. Yang, M.L. Perry, T.D. Jarvi, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 8 (2005) A273.
- [68] E. Endoh, S. Terazono, H. Widjaja, Y. Takimoto, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 7 (2004) A209.
- [69] B. Sakintuna, Y. Yurum, Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 44 (2005) 2893.
- [70] M. Mathias, H. Gasteiger, R. Makharia, S. Kocha, T. Fuller, J. Pisco, Abstr. Pap. Am. Chem. Soc. 228 (2004) U653.
- [71] A.S. Arico, P. Bruce, B. Scrosati, J.M. Tarascon, W. Van Schalkwijk, Nat. Mater. 4 (2005) 366.
- [72] X. Wang, W.Z. Li, Z.W. Chen, M. Waje, Y.S. Yan, J. Power Sources 158 (2006) 154.
- [73] R.F. Service, Science 315 (2007) 172.
- [74] Z.D. Wei, H.T. Guo, Z.Y. Tang, J. Power Sources 62 (1996) 233.
- [75] J. Zhang, K. Sasaki, E. Sutter, R.R. Adzic, Science 315 (2007) 220.
- [76] M. Maeda, A. Hagiwara, H. Sotouchi, H. Sato, X. Zhao, S. Morikawa, O. Kato, Electrochemistry 67 (1999) 155.
- [77] P.H. Matter, L. Zhang, U.S. Ozkan, J. Catal. 239 (2006) 83.
- [78] P.H. Matter, U.S. Ozkan, Catal. Lett. 109 (2006) 115.
- [79] S. Maldonado, K.J. Stevenson, J. Phys. Chem. B 109 (2005) 4707.
- [80] C.K. Acharya, C.H. Turner, J. Phys. Chem. B 110 (2006) 17706.
- [81] H. Meng, P.K. Shen, J. Phys. Chem. B 109 (2005) 22705.
- [82] E.C. Weigert, N.A. Smith, B.G. Willis, A. Amorelli, J.G. Chen, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 8 (2005) A337.
- [83] H. Meng, P.K. Shen, Electrochem. Commun. 8 (2006) 588.
- [84] R. Ganesan, J.S. Lee, Angew. Chem. -Int. Ed. 44 (2005) 6557.
- [85] Y. Yang, S. Holdcroft, Fuel Cells 5 (2005) 171.
- [86] H.H. Hwu, J.G.G. Chen, K. Kourtakis, J.G. Lavin, J. Phys. Chem. B 105 (2001) 10037.
- [87] R. Bashyam, P. Zelenay, Nature 443 (2006) 63.
- [88] A. Hermann, T. Chaudhuri, P. Spagnol, Int. J. Hydrogen Energy 30 (2005) 1297.
- [89] N.B. Huang, B.L. Yi, M. Hou, P.W. Ming, Prog. Chem. 17 (2005) 963.
- [90] X.Z. Yuan, H.J. Wang, J.J. Zhang, D.P. Wilkinson, J. New Mater. Electrochem. Syst. 8 (2005) 257.
- [91] J.S. Cooper, J. Power Sources 129 (2004) 152.
- [92] H. Wang, M.P. Brady, K.L. More, H.M. Meyer, J.A. Turner, J. Power Sources 138 (2004) 79.

- [93] H. Wang, M.P. Brady, G. Teeter, J.A. Turner, J. Power Sources 138 (2004) 86.
- [94] M.P. Brady, K. Weisbrod, C. Zawodzinski, I. Paulauskas, R.A. Buchanan, L.R. Walker, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 5 (2002) A245.
- [95] M.P. Brady, K. Weisbrod, I. Paulauskas, R.A. Buchanan, K.L. More, H. Wang, M. Wilson, F. Garzon, L.R. Walker, Scr. Mater. 50 (2004) 1017.
- [96] M.P. Brady, B. Yang, H. Wang, J.A. Turner, K.L. More, M. Wilson, F. Garzon, JOM 58 (2006) 50.
- [97] S.H. Joo, S.J. Choi, I. Oh, J. Kwak, Z. Liu, O. Terasaki, R. Ryoo, Nature 412 (2001) 169.
- [98] D.A. Schiraldi, Polym. Rev. 46 (2006) 315.
- [99] T.A. Zawodzinski, D. Schiraldi, Polym. Rev. 46 (2006) 215.
- [100] M. Schulze, T. Knori, A. Schneider, E. Gulzow, J. Power Sources 127 (2004) 222.
- [101] M.A. Hickner, B.S. Pivovar, Fuel Cells 5 (2005) 213.
- [102] S. von Kraemer, M. Puchner, P. Jannasch, A. Lundblad, G. Lindbergh, J. Electrochem. Soc. 153 (2006) A2077.
- [103] M. Inaba, H. Yamada, J. Tokunaga, A. Tasaka, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 7 (2004) A474.
- [104] H.L. Lin, T.L. Yu, F.H. Han, J. Polym. Res. 13 (2006) 379.
- [105] J. Kim, B. Kim, B. Jung, Y.S. Kang, H.Y. Ha, I.H. Oh, K.J. Ihn, Macromol. Rapid Commun. 23 (2002) 753.
- [106] X.Y. Huang, R. Solasi, Y. Zou, M. Feshler, K. Reifsnider, D. Condit, S. Burlatsky, T. Madden, J. Polym. Sci. Part: B Polym. Phys. 44 (2006) 2346.
- [107] R.I. Kvon, G.N. Il'inich, A.L. Chuvilin, V.A. Likholobov, J. Mol. Catal. A-Chem. 158 (2000) 413.
- [108] C.S. Ma, L. Zhang, S. Mukerjee, D. Ofer, B.D. Nair, J. Membr. Sci. 219 (2003) 123.
- [109] S.D. Fritts, D. Gervasio, R.L. Zeller, R.F. Savinell, J. Electrochem. Soc. 138 (1991) 3345.
- [110] S. Gottesfeld, I.D. Raistrick, S. Srinivasan, J. Electrochem. Soc. 134 (1987) 1455.
- [111] L. Zhang, C.S. Ma, S. Mukerjee, Electrochim. Acta 48 (2003) 1845.
- [112] E.B. Easton, T.D. Astill, S. Holdcroft, J. Electrochem. Soc. 152 (2005) A752.
- [113] M. Rikukawa, K. Sanui, Prog. Polym. Sci. 25 (2000) 1463.
- [114] Y.S. Kim, M.J. Sumner, W.L. Harrison, J.S. Riffle, J.E. McGrath, B.S. Pivovar, J. Electrochem. Soc. 151 (2004) A2150.
- [115] M.A. Hickner, Transport and structure in fuel cell proton exchange membranes, Ph.D. Thesis, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, 2003.
- [116] L. Jorissen, V. Gogel, J. Kerres, J. Garche, J. Power Sources 105 (2002) 267.
- [117] R. Carter, R. Wycisk, H. Yoo, P.N. Pintauro, Electrochem. Solid State Lett. 5 (2002) A195.
- [118] J. Kerres, W. Zhang, L. Jorissen, V. Gogel, J. New Mater. Electrochem. Syst. 5 (2002) 97.
- [119] K.C. Neyerlin, H.A. Gasteiger, C.K. Mittelsteadt, J. Jorne, W.B. Gu, J. Electrochem. Soc. 152 (2005) A1073.
- [120] J. Greeley, M. Mavrikakis, Nat. Mater. 3 (2004) 810.
- [121] S.S. Jang, V. Molinero, T. Cagin, W.A. Goddard, J. Phys. Chem. B 108 (2004) 3149.
- [122] A.Z. Weber, J. Newman, J. Electrochem. Soc. 151 (2004) A311.
- [123] M. Eikerling, A.A. Kornyshev, A.M. Kuznetsov, J. Ulstrup, S. Walbran, J. Phys. Chem. B 105 (2001) 3646.